IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

CASE NO. SC02-984
5TH DCA CASE NOS. 5D00-2262
5D00-2459

STEVEN DARST,

Respondent.

ON NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar # 618550

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0162172
444 Seabreeze Blvd.
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax No.(386) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Although Respondent, Steven Darst, had his cases consolidated for purposes of appeal, the only issue before this Court relates to his conviction for the offense of aggravated assault upon a law enforcement officer as charged in Brevard County Circuit Court Case No. 99-37513-CFAX, DCA No. 5D00-2459. The record on appeal in that case consists of an initial two volumes with a supplemental record. For purposes of consistency, Petitioner will cite to the record for Case No. 5D00-2459 as "2459R" and to the Supplemental Record as "2459Supp.R" with the applicable volume and page numbers thereafter as was done in the District Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged by Information in Brevard County Circuit Court Case No. 99-37513-CFAX with aggravated assault upon a law enforcement officer, aggravated fleeing and eluding and resisting arrest without violence. (2459R Vol.1, 189-190). On January 5, 2000, he was tried by jury and found guilty as charged. (2459Supp.R Vol. III, 394-395). A sentencing guidelines scoresheet was prepared using the aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer conviction as the primary offense resulting in a minimum permissible sentence of 75.3 months imprisonment. (2459R Vol. II, 238-240). The trial court judge imposed concurrent downward departure sentences of three years imprisonment to be followed by five years of probation for the aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer and aggravated fleeing and eluding and one year imprisonment for the resisting arrest. (2459R Vol. II, 241-250).

In an opinion filed on March 28, 2002, the Fifth District Court of Appeal remanded the case to the trial court only for purposes of correcting Respondent's sentencing guidelines scoresheet without employing the 1.5 law enforcement multiplier pursuant to Section 921.0024. The Court certified conflict with Mills v. State, 773 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), review granted 790 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 2001). Darst v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D737 (Fla. 5th DCA March 28, 2002). (Appendices I). The State filed it Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on April 22, 2002.

In its Case No. SC02-984, this Court issued its order postponing its decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule on May 21, 2002.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was charged with and convicted of committing the second degree felony offense of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer in violation of section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1999). The sentencing guidelines scoresheet prepared for his sentencing properly included the 1.5 law enforcement multiplier pursuant to Section 921.0024(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1999). The District Court of Appeal erred in remanding this case to the trial court for the correction of Respondent's sentencing guidelines scoresheet by calculating his sentencing guidelines total without using the multiplier. The Florida legislature created the new substantive second degree felony offense of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer and intended that the punishment for such crimes against law enforcement officers be further enhanced by use of the multiplier. Sentencing in accord with the intent of the legislature does not violate the concept of double jeopardy.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 784.07(2)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES, CREATED THE NEW SUBSTANTIVE OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT AGAINST A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER AND, THEREFORE, THE USE OF THE 1.5 MULTIPLIER PURSUANT TO SECTION 921.0024, FLORIDA STATUTES, IN PREPARING THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORESHEET DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN IMPERMISSIBLE DOUBLE ENHANCEMENT.

In <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 780 So.2d 17, 19 (Fla. 2001), this Court "The Double Jeopardy Clause in both the state and federal constitutions protects criminal defendants from convictions and punishments for the same offense." In remanding this case to the trial court for correction of Respondent's sentencing quidelines scoresheet, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that double jeopardy would bar both reclassification of an aggravated assault committed against a law enforcement officer from a third to a second degree felony pursuant to Section 784.07, Florida Statutes (1999), and the use of the 1.5 multiplier pursuant to Section 775.0823(10) and Section 921.0024(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1999), the Criminal Punishment Code.

In <u>Merritt v. State</u>, 712 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 1998), this Court found that Section 784.07 is not applicable to an attempt to commit one of the enumerated offenses. The Court did refer to Section 784.07 as an "enhancement statute", but, in that case, it was not addressing the double jeopardy issue here before it. The First District Court of Appeal addressed this issue directly in <u>Mills v.</u>

State, 773 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), review granted 790 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 2001), and expressed its belief that Section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes, created a new substantive offense consisting of the elements of aggravated assault plus the added elements that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duties and that the defendant knew the victim was a law enforcement officer. The First District Court distinguished Merritt stating that double jeopardy was not the issue before the Court in that case and the use of the term "enhancement statute" with reference to Section 784.07 was dicta.

In <u>Spann v. State</u>, 772 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the Fourth District Court receded from its earlier decision in <u>Oliveira v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), <u>review denied</u> 770 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 2000), finding that this Court's decision in <u>Gayman v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1993), does not support the proposition that two enhancements violate double jeopardy. The Court cited to this Court's decision in <u>State v. Whitehead</u>, 472 So. 2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1985), which allowed a double enhancement by both the reclassification of an offense because it involved the use of a firearm and the imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence because of the use of a firearm. In holding that applying both statutes did not constitute an improper double enhancement, this Court explained:

Determination of punishment for crimes is a legislative matter. Because the legislature

has provided both these subsections, both are to be followed. Absent an indication from the legislature that these subsections are an either/or proposition, both subsections will be followed.

The <u>Whitehead</u> decision is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's holding in <u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S.Ct. 673, 678, 74 L.Ed.2d 535, 542 (1983), that "...the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended."

In Matthews v. State, 774 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied 779 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 2000), the Information filed against the defendant did not specifically allege a violation of section 775.0823. However, the Information did charge that the defendant had committed a violation of Section 784.07 by committing an aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer. The defendant was convicted as charged of the second degree felony aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer and the Second District Court concluded that the law enforcement multiplier, a "penalty enhancement" pursuant to Section 921.0014(1)(b) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.703(d)(22), was correctly applied to enhance Mr. Matthew's sentence. Here, as in Matthews, the law enforcement multiplier was correctly applied, although the trial court judge chose not to impose an enhanced sentence and the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in remanding this case to the trial court for preparation of a sentencing guidelines scoresheet that does not include the multiplier. The fact that Respondent was charged with the second degree felony offense under Section 784.07 because the victim was a law enforcement officer rather than being charged with a third degree aggravated assault pursuant to Section 784.021, would not preclude the use of the law enforcement multiplier pursuant to Section 921.0024(1)(b) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.703(d)(22). It is no more double jeopardy than the double enhancement for use of a firearm approved by this Court in Whitehead. As this Court held in that case: the determination of punishment for crimes is a legislative matter. Because the legislature has provided both these subsections, both are to be followed. As the United States Supreme Court said in Hunter, it is not a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause to impose the punishment intended by the legislature.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, since Section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes, created the new substantive offense of aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer and is not an enhancement statute, the use of the 1.5 multiplier pursuant to Section 921.0024, Florida Statutes, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.703(d)(22), does not constitute a double enhancement and this Court should approve the decision of the First District Court of Appeals in Mills v. State, 773 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), review granted 790 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 2001), and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal remanding this case to the trial court for correction of Respondent's scoresheet should be disapproved.