# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, ) Petitioner, ) vs. ) STEVEN DARST, ) Respondent. )

CASE NO. SC02-984

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

# **

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Respondent agrees with the Petitioner's Statement of the Case, with the following additions:

Steven Darst's offense of aggravated assault, Section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1999), was reclassified from a third degree felony to a second degree felony because it was committed against a law enforcement officer. § 784.021, Fla. Stat. (1999). It also was subject to the three-year minimum mandatory provision of Section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1999). The trial court sentenced Darst to the least prison time that it could, imposing the three-year minimum mandatory prison term, plus added five years probation, imposing a downward departure sentence due to the defendant's remorse, the fact it was an isolated incident while Darst was undergoing a temporary stressful time in his life, and the unsophisticated manner in which it was committed; all based on and supported by the factual basis for the plea, the court-ordered psychological report, and testimony from the defendant's family. (2262R Vol. I, T183-184)

On appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, the appellate court upheld the downward departure sentence, with which ruling the state does not take issue in this Court. *Darst v. State*, 816 So.2d 680, 681 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002); Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits, p. 1. The district court also held that the use of the 1.5 multiplier for aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer was a double enhancement impermissibly using the exact same factor or addressing the exact same evil. *Id.* at 683. Although the downward departure sentence to the mandatory minimum three-year prison term would not be affected by the reduction in sentencing points, the court added, the defendant was still entitled to a corrected scoresheet. *Darst v. State, supra*.

Since the district court's decision, Darst has completed the incarcerative portion of his sentence and is now on probation. (*See* Appendix A)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The decision of the district court does not directly and expressly conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal on the same issue of law. The decisions of the first district and this Court in *Mills v. State*, 773 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000), and *Mills v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S593 (Fla. June 20, 2002), dealt with the completely different issue of whether a person could be convicted and sentenced both to the reclassified felony offense and the broadreaching and dissimilar habitual offender enhancement, not the issue here of reclassification and enhancement based on the same conduct, fact, and evil.

Since both the reclassification of the offense of aggravated assault from a third degree felony to the more severe punishment of a second degree felony if the victim is a law enforcement official and the enhancement of the multiplier address and seek to protect against the same evil and punish the identical conduct and factor (that the victim was indeed a law enforcement officer), there exists an impermissible double "enhancement." Further, since the legislature, in Section 775.0823(10), Florida Statutes (1999), specifically mentions *only* "aggravated assault as described in s. 784.021," and not the reclassified "new" offense of Section 784.07(2)(c), which already provides separately for an increase in punishment, it must be assumed that the legislature did not intend, and it is

constitutionally impermissible, for a double enhancement of a defendant's sentence because of the singular fact that the victim was a law enforcement officer.

### ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, IN *DARST V. STATE*, 816 So.2d 680 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002), IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL, AND CORRECTLY STRUCK THE ENHANCEMENT MULTIPLIER POINTS WHERE THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE HAD ALREADY BEEN ENHANCED ONCE FOR THE SAME FACTOR, CONTRARY TO THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT AND THE PROTECTIONS OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The opinion of the Fifth District in the instant case vacated the 1.5 multiplier points on the sentencing scoresheet, ruling that the conviction and sentence for the aggravated assault had already been reclassified to a second degree felony (thereby increasing his sentence) for the sole fact that the victim had been a law enforcement officer, pursuant to Section 784.07(2)(c), Florida Statutes (1999). To allow for multiple increases in the sentence based on the same conduct and evil, the court concluded, violated double jeopardy and could not be authorized by Section 775.0823, Florida Statutes, allowing for a sentence enhancement for an aggravated assault, where the victim is a law enforcement officer. This holding does not expressly and directly conflicts with cases from this Court and other district courts, which cases specifically dealt with the different issue of double enhancement for both the fact that the victim was a police officer and the totally different general broad-based habitual offender enhancement which is based on, and intended to protect society from defendants with, certain prior crimes within a certain time frame.

The district court certified conflict with the first district's decision in *Mills v*. State, 773 So.2d 650 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Since then, this Court has issued its opinion in that case, Mills v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S593 (Fla. June 20, 2002), which, the appellant speculates, the state is salivating over, eagerly waiting to cite it in their reply brief. But, the appellant submits, this Court's *Mills* decision is not the end-all, controlling factor in the instant case; *Mills* did not deal with the issue presented here of (1) a reclassification, plus (2) a second, additional enhancement, where both are based on the singular fact that the victim was a police officer – the same conduct, fact, and evil already addressed by the reclassification by Section 784.07(2)(c). Instead *Mills* dealt with the completely different issue of whether a person could be convicted and sentenced both to the reclassified felony offense against a police officer and the broad-reaching and totally dissimilar habitual offender enhancement provision. Undersigned counsel has got to believe that this distinguishing factor means the *Mills* decision is not controlling here and there

exists no direct conflict between the instant case and *Mills*, much the same as this Court found that its decision in *Merritt v. State*, 712 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1988), dealing with a different issue, did not, as the Court interpreted it,, conflict with *Mills*: "Upon further analysis, as discussed *infra*, we conclude that the apparent conflict arises in statutory construction, and that, when the proper construction is made, the appearance of conflict is resolved." *Mills v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S593.

Since both the reclassification of the offense of aggravated assault from a third degree felony to the more severe punishment of a second degree felony if the victim is a law enforcement official and the enhancement of the multiplier address and seek to protect against the same evil and punish the identical conduct and factor (that the victim was indeed a law enforcement officer), there exists here, unlike in *Mills*, an impermissible double "enhancement." As the district court noted below, Section 921.0024(1)(b), Florida Statutes creates a multiplier of 1.5 if the primary offense "is a violation of" section 775.0823(9) or (10)." But, section 775.0823(10) does not set forth the specific substantive crime of "aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer," rather only referencing and enhancing the crime of simple aggravated assault, pursuant to Section 784.021, when it happens to be committed on a police officer. See Matthews v. State, 774 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 2d DCA) (en banc), rev. denied, 779 So.2d 272 (Fla.2000). Instead, this statute is a

penalty enhancement statute, which, by its very terms provides an "increase and certainty of penalty" for crimes committed against law enforcement officers and other specified persons and prescribes a sentence pursuant to the Criminal Punishment Code for aggravated assault as described in section 784.021. *See Id.;* Fla. Stat. § 775.0823(10). The intent of Section 775.0823 is to impose increased punishment by the use of a multiplier in an effort to protect all law enforcement officers and other government officials charged with enforcing, prosecuting, and judging criminal activity from violent offenses when they are acting in an official capacity. As this Court said in *Mills, supra*,

Thus, although in *Merritt* we characterized the statute as an "enhancement statute" to emphasize that it resulted in greater penalties for already-enumerated offenses which qualified under the statute, rather than itself creating new offenses, there is a qualitative difference between a statute which reclassifies enumerated offenses committed against law enforcement officers and enhancement statutes such as the habitual offender statute, "which cut across some or all criminal statutes." *State v. Brown*, 476 So.2d 660, 662 (Fla.1985) (holding that a penalty could not be enhanced under section 775.087(1) for a crime in which the use of a deadly weapon was an essential element, because that statute by its express terms did not apply to such felonies).

Here, we are not dealing with a different type of enhancement, such as habitual offender status which depends on a different factor, to-wit: the defendant's criminal history for certain types of crimes, and "cuts across some or all criminal

statutes. Rather, we are dealing with a double increase in the severity of the

sentence for the single fact that the victim was a police officer.

As the district court correctly stated in this case,

Darst is entitled to relief because his scoresheet was enhanced twice-first when his crime of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer was reclassified from a third to second degree felony and second when the 1.5 multiplier was applied under section 921.0024 for a violation of 784.021 by committing aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer. As long as different purposes are being served by the enhancements or the elements causing the enhancement are not the same, multiple enhancements are allowed. See State v. Whitehead, 472 So.2d 730 (Fla.1985); see also Spann, 772 So.2d at 39 (affirming sentence as a Prison Release Reoffender and reclassification under section 784.07). Double enhancements are only allowed if two different harms are addressed by each enhancement. In the instant case, both enhancements arose from the fact that the victim was a law enforcement officer and, therefore, constituted an impermissible double enhancement.

Similarly, in *Mills*, this Court noted that the same evil or conduct cannot be used to doubly increase punishment, but double enhancement can occur only when the legislature was addressing different evils or different conduct, such as is the case with reclassification to a felony and habitual offender status, since the legislature there obviously intended for both different factors, one increase in punishment based on the instant crime and one based on prior record, to apply at the same time. *Mills v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S595 [distinguishing *State v. Crumley*, 512

So.2d 183 (Fla. 1987) for dealing with "a single underlying act"].

The legislative intent in the instant situation is not at all clear when dealing with the double increases in sentence here. The legislature, in adopting Sections 775.082(10) and 921.0024(1)(b), Florida Statutes, specifically stated that the multiplier was to apply to Section 784.021, simple non-reclassified aggravated assault. The doctrine of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, "the express inclusion of items in a statute means that those not listed are excluded," must be applied to the instant case. As the district court stated in *Jordan v. State*, 801 So.2d 1032, 1035 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001),

Embodied in section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (2001), and enunciated many times by appellate courts, see e.g., Wallace v. State, 724 So.2d 1176 (Fla.1998), is the general rule of statutory construction that when criminal legislation is susceptible to more than one meaning, it must be strictly construed in favor of the accused. See also State v. Camp, 596 So.2d 1055 (Fla.1992). In addition, expressio unius est exclusio alterius, which means that the express inclusion of items in a statute means that those not listed are excluded, must be applied to the instant case. See Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976) ("It is, of course, a general principle of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another; expressio unius est exclusio alterius."); see also McFadden v. State, 737 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1999).

Thus, it appears, by the very language of the statute, that the legislature intended only a single, alternative reclassification or enhancement for an aggravated assault where the victim is an officer, alternatively either conviction of simple aggravated assault under Section 784.021 and use of the 1.5 multiplier, *or* conviction of an aggravated assault of a law enforcement officer, pursuant to 784.07(2)(c), with no multiplier on the scoresheet.

In conclusion, then, the legislature did not intend for a double increase in penalty for this single factor, and the doubling here of that singular factor is improper under double jeopardy considerations. Just as this Court indicated that *Merritt, supra*, was not in conflict with the decision in *Mills, supra*, "when the proper construction is made, the appearance of conflict" here between the instant decision and *Mills* "is resolved." *Mills v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S593 and 595. This Court should decline jurisdiction because there exists no express and direct conflict, or, at the least, should affirm the district court's holding that the double increase for the single factor was improper.

## **CONCLUSION**

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the respondent requests that this Honorable Court decline jurisdiction or approve the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District.